Case Number: DA 24-0023

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

### No. DA 24-0023

### STATE OF MONTANA,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

v.

### PHILIP MICHAEL FRISCIA,

Defendant and Appellant.

### OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT

On Appeal from Montana's Eighth Judicial District Court, Cascade County, the Honorable Elizabeth A. Best, Presiding

#### COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PETE WOOD 1604 N. 30<sup>th</sup> St. Boise, ID 83703 petewood\_333@hotmail.com

#### COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

AUSTIN KNUDSEN Montana Attorney General TAMMY K. PLUBELL Bureau Chief 215 N. Sanders Street P.O. Box 201401 Helena, MT 59601

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Did officers have probable cause and exigent circumstances to justify their continued presence in the curtilage of Friscia's home after he told them to leave at 20:14:55?
- 2. Is § 45-7-102(1)(a)(i), MCA unconstitutional?

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Shortly after 8:00 p.m. (20:00) on the evening of November 18, 2022, Great Falls Pollice Officer Zaine O'Meara was dispatched to a multi-dwelling unit for what was characterized as a "disturbance." (4/24/23 Tr., 21, 41-43.) The call was placed by a woman named Shanelle Parker, who was the Appellant Philip Friscia's girlfriend. (4/24/23 Tr., 6, 41; see also Ex. 1.)

After determining the disturbance was coming from the upstairs apartment, officers headed up an interior stairwell towards that unit (which Friscia rented). (4/24/23 Tr., 10, 26-28, 45.) Prior to reaching Friscia's upstairs apartment Officer O'Meara saw a person's feet under the door prompting him to say, "open the door I can see your feet, police department." (Ex. 2, 20:14:40-49; & 4/24/23 Tr., 30.)

Friscia—who was behind the closed door leading into his apartment—responded "what's up?." (Ex. 2, 20:14:49-51.) Officer

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> All dates refer to the year 2022 unless otherwise stated. Timestamps are approximations only as indicated on Officer O'Meara's dashcam video/audio (State's Exhibit 2 (when viewed in Watchguard)) and refer to the time of day in military time e.g. 20:14:55.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The record indicates there were a total of five officers on scene including Officer O'Meara, although only three entered Friscia's stairwell. (4/24/23 Tr., 58.)

O'Meara asked Friscia to step outside and Friscia—who had not yet opened the door, responded, "I will not, please get out of my house." (Ex. 2, 20:14:50-55; see also 4/24/23 Tr., 32.) The officers did not leave as requested; Friscia eventually opened the door and said something to the effect of, "I have a right to defend myself from people who are in my house." (Ex. 2, 20:14:55-15:45; & 4/24/23 Tr., 32.)<sup>3</sup>

Friscia was arrested and charged with Count I: felony threat to an officer under § 45-7-102(a)(1)(i), MCA; and Count II: misdemeanor destruction of a communication device under § 45-6-105(1)(a), MCA.

(D.C. Doc. 3, at 1-2.) Count II stemmed from a broken cell phone belonging to Ms. Parker that was purportedly discovered inside

Friscia's apartment after his arrest. (D.C. Doc. 1, 5-6.)

Friscia moved to suppress and dismiss. (D.C. Doc. 18.) As it pertains to the suppression motion, the district court framed the issue as follows: "Friscia argued that the search was unlawful and lacked probable cause. The State argues that the entry into the apartment

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Officer O'Meara testified that Friscia used the word "fucking"—as in he had a "fing right to defend" his home. (4/24/23 Tr., 33.) The district court likewise concluded that Friscia said, "I have the right to fucking defend myself..." (D.C. Doc. 29, 3.) It is unclear from the audio whether Friscia actually used the F-word, but either way the communication is materially the same. (See Ex. 2, 20:15:40-45.)

was legal based on exigent circumstances." (D.C. Doc. 29, 4.) As it pertains to the motion to dismiss, Friscia argued 45-7-102(1)(a)(i) was facially overbroad in violation of the First Amendment. (D.C. Doc. 29, 7; see also D.C. Doc. 18, 6-12.) Friscia did not raise an as-applied challenge to 45-7-102(1)(a)(i). (D.C. Doc. 18, 8.)

An evidentiary hearing was held on April 24, 2023; during the hearing Friscia and Officer O'Meara testified and the State admitted the following seven exhibits: a copy of the 911 call (State's Exhibit 1); Officer O'Meara's dashcam video/audio (State's Exhibit 2); and numerous photographs of the entrance(s) to Friscia's apartment (State's Exhibit 3-7). (See 4/24/23 Tr., 3-8, 12-14, 38; see also Exs. 1-7.)

The day after the hearing the district court issued a written order denying Friscia's motion to suppress and dismiss. (See D.C. Doc. 29.)

More specifically, the district court ruled that the officers' presence in Friscia's stairwell was justified under the exigent circumstances doctrine. (Id., 5-6.) The district court also rejected Friscia's argument that 45-7-102(1)(a)(i) was unconstitutional, ruling that "as applied to Friscia's alleged conduct in this case, where the words could be interpreted as a threat to harm Officer O'Meara or other officers, the

Court concludes that the proscribed conduct is reasonably clear in its application to Friscia." (Id., 9.)<sup>4</sup>

Pursuant to an agreement with the State, Friscia entered an Alford plea to Count I (felony threat to an officer under 45-7-102(a)(1)(i)) by stipulating to the facts in the State's affidavit. (9/29/23 Tr., 6, 8; see also D.C. Docs. 1 & 51.)<sup>5</sup> During the plea colloquy Friscia agreed with his attorney that:

[W]hile there was some disagreements about the nature of the[] statements to the officers... you agree that you could be found guilty [at trial] of threats to a law enforcement officer based on the statutory requirements... (9/29/23 Tr., 11-12.)

And when Friscia was asked during his PSI interview what he thought the court should do, Friscia responded, "DROP THE CHARGES BECAUSE I REALLY DON'T FEEL LIKE I MADE ANY THREATS[.]" (D.C. Doc. 54, 4 (capitalization in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The district court correctly framed Friscia's motion to dismiss as a facial challenge, yet its ruling was based on as-applied analysis. (See D.C. Doc. 29, 7-9.) The district court also appears to have primarily analyzed 45-7-102(1)(a)(i) under the vagueness doctrine rather than the overbreadth doctrine. (Id.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Count II (misdemeanor destruction of a communication device under 45-6-105(1)(a)) was dismissed pursuant to the parties' agreement. (9/29/23 Tr., 6, 8.) Prior to changing his plea Friscia reserved his right to appeal the denial of his motion to suppress and dismiss. (Id., 8, 12.)

# original).)

Friscia was sentenced on November 13, 2023; he filed a timely notice of appeal with the Montana Supreme Court on January 9, 2024. (D.C. Docs. 57 & 59.)

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

### 1. Layout of Friscia's Apartment.

1626 6th Ave N is a multi-family dwelling containing several ground level apartments and a single second-story unit (rented by Friscia). (4/24/23 Tr., 10, 22, 28.)6 Because Friscia's apartment was the only second-story unit, it had two doors, one on the ground level i.e. the exterior of the building and a second (interior) door located at the top of a short flight of L-shaped stairs. (See Exs. 3-7; see also 4/24/23 Tr., 11-13.) Thus, to access Friscia's apartment a person had to open the ground level (outside) door, proceed up the L-shaped stairwell, then enter the interior door into the apartment at the top of the stairs. (Id.)

#### 2. Ms. Parker's 911 call.

Shortly after 20:00 on November 18, 2022, Great Falls dispatch received a call from Ms. Parker who told the dispatcher "my partner locked me out of the house and he has our baby." (4/24/23 Tr., 6, 41; & Ex. 1, 0:00-0:10.) The dispatcher asked Ms. Parker for her location and she advised "1626 6th Ave North." (Ex. 1, 0:10-0:20.) The remaining 40-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> During the evidentiary hearing Friscia advised that his address was 522 17<sup>th</sup> St. North. (4/24/23 Tr., 10.) It appears the two addresses are in effect the same location.

seconds of the call are difficult to understand, but it appears Ms. Parker yelled "don't" before calling Friscia an "asshole"—who in turn accuses Ms. Parker of attempting to break down his door. (Id., 0:20-0:39.) Moments later Ms. Parker hangs-up the phone. (Id., 0:50-0:59; & 4/24/23 Tr., 6, 21.) In explaining what he was told about the call, Officer O'Meara testified that, "[dispatch] advised that they heard a lot of yelling and screaming, that the female provided an address, and then... hung up." (4/24/23 Tr., 21.)

### 3. Officers arrive on scene.

Several minutes after Ms. Parker's 911 call Officer O'Meara arrived on scene (at approximately 20:06:25). (4/24/23 Tr., 41; see also Ex. 2.) The first person Officer O'Meara contacted was a neighbor who purportedly came to the door with a gun. (Ex. 2, 20:08:00-05.) The audio is not great but it appears the neighbor told Officer O'Meara something to the effect of, "you're wasting a lot of time in my mind." (Id., 20:07:00-10.) A few minutes later Officer O'Meara told a fellow officer he didn't get "too deep into with him [i.e. the neighbor]" and that "he started to say he was having neighbors that were causing issues or something and then stopped talking..." (Id., 20:11:35-45.)

After being on scene for approximately 6.5 minutes Officer O'Meara, who was having difficulty locating where the disturbance had occurred, asked dispatch to call Ms. Parker back and apparently she did not answer. (See Ex. 2, 20:12:45-55; see also 4/24/23 Tr., 25.) Seconds later Officer O'Meara opined that the call might have been hoax, quipping "it looks kind of fake to me now." (Ex. 2, 20:13:00-05.)

After being on scene for approximately 7-minutes Officer O'Meara observed an individual exit one of the ground level apartments and yelled, "hey, can we talk to you, bud?" (Ex. 2, 20:13:15-25; & 4/24/23 Tr., 23.) It turns out the individual was Friscia's brother ("Marc"), who happened to live in one of the ground level apartments. (Ex. 2, 20:14:15-25; see also 4/24/23 Tr., 23.)

While conversing with Marc Officer O'Meara "heard a male and a female screaming back and forth to each other loudly" in the upstairs unit. (4/24/23 Tr., 23-24.) Officer O'Meara testified that he couldn't hear what the male and female were saying, but it was clear to him "there was some form of a physical or verbal disturbance happening upstairs." (4/24/23 Tr., 23-24.) Officer O'Meara later testified that he was worried about the safety of the female. (Id., 24-25.)

### 4. Officer O'Meara makes verbal contact with Friscia.

After hearing the disturbance in the upstairs apartment Officer O'Meara opened the ground level door and proceeded up the L-shaped stairs towards Friscia's interior door. (Id., 26-28, 45.)<sup>7</sup> Officer O'Meara testified that when he entered the ground level door he initially thought the stairwell was a "common area", but later learned the stairwell led to a single upstairs unit i.e. Friscia's apartment. (Id., Tr., 28.) Inside the stairwell were various personal property items belonging to Friscia including a bike, a sled, a spare tire, a water cooler, and a baby stroller. (See Exs. 4-6; & 4/24/23 Tr., 49.)

As Officer O'Meara walked up the stairwell he saw movement under the door, prompting the following conversation between Officer O'Meara (who was standing in the stairwell) and Friscia (who was behind his closed interior door):

Officer O'Meara: "Open the door I can see your feet, police

department."

Friscia: "What's up?"

Officer O'Meara: "Hey can you come step out here real quick,

Dude?"

<sup>7</sup> Note that Officer O'Meara had been on scene over 8-minutes before entering the stairwell to Friscia's apartment. (*Compare* Ex. 2, at 20:06:25 *with* 20:14:30-40.)

Friscia: "I will not, please get out of my house."

Officer O'Meara: "We are not in your house."

Friscia: "You are in my house, get out of my house."

Officer O'Meara: "Can you tell me what's going on?"

Friscia: "No, I do not want to talk to you, get out of

my house." (Ex. 2, 20:14:40-15:05; see also

4/24/23 Tr., 32.)

Rather than leave the stairwell as Friscia had requested, Officer O'Meara continued asking Friscia to exit his apartment, while Friscia continued demanding that the officers leave. (See Ex. 2, 20:15:05-30; & 4/24/23 Tr., 32.)

Eventually Friscia opened the door holding a small child; prior to that point in time Officer O'Meara was unaware there was a child in the apartment. (4/24/23 Tr., 31-32.)<sup>8</sup> Friscia, who was clearly frustrated by the officers' refusal to leave despite his repeated requests, eventually said to the officers something to the effect of, "I have a right to defend myself from people who are in my house." (Ex. 2, 20:15:38-42; see also 4/24/23 Tr., 33.) Moments later Officer O'Meara said, "back out" and all

 $<sup>^8</sup>$  Officer O'Meara was also unaware that Marc's 15-year old son was in the apartment until after Friscia opened the door. (4/24/23 Tr., 31.)

three officers exited Friscia's stairwell and stepped outside. (Ex. 2, 20:15:45-46; & 4/24/23 Tr., 34, 58.) Once outside Officer O'Meara asked Marc whether his brother (Friscia) had any weapons and Marc advised he did not. (Ex. 2, 20:16:20-23.) During the evidentiary hearing Officer O'Meara testified that he perceived Friscia's statement as a threat to impose physical harm. (4/24/23 Tr., 33-34.)

### 5. Officer O'Meara tases Friscia in the stairwell.

Shortly after stepping outside Officer O'Meara looked over and saw Friscia speaking with his brother Marc near his (Friscia's) exterior door i.e. the ground level door to Friscia's apartment. (4/24/23 Tr., 36.) Officer O'Meara believed Marc was trying to calm Friscia down. (4/24/23 Tr., 60.) Officer O'Meara testified that he decided to take action out of fear for anyone that might be in Friscia's apartment. (4/24/23 Tr., 36-37.) Officer O'Meara began walking toward Friscia and said, "Look, you're outside. Let's have a conversation." (4/24/23 Tr., 37.) Friscia responded by re-entering his stairwell and locking his exterior door. (4/24/23 Tr., 37.) Officer O'Meara shattered the glass with his shoulder and kicked open the exterior door. (4/24/23 Tr., 38.) Friscia began retreating up the L-shaped stairs but was tased by Officer

O'Meara before reaching his apartment. (4/24/23 Tr., 39; & Ex. 2, 20:17:35-17:45.)

After taking Friscia into custody Officer O'Meara made contact with the other individuals in Friscia's apartment i.e. Ms. Parker, the couple's child, and Friscia's 15-year-old nephew (Marc's son). (4/24/23 Tr., 39-40.) Officers also located Ms. Parker's phone inside the apartment, which Friscia had purportedly broken. (See 4/24/23 Tr., 39-40; see also D.C. Doc. 1, 5-6.)

### STANDARDS OF REVIEW

A lower court's denial of a motion to suppress is reviewed to determine whether the findings of fact are clearly erroneous and whether the findings were correctly applied as a matter of law. *City of Missoula v. Metz*, 2019 MT 264, ¶12, 397 Mont. 467, 451 P.3d 530. "A [factual] finding is clearly erroneous if it is not supported by substantial evidence, if the lower court has misapprehended the effect of the evidence, or if our review of the record leaves us with the firm conviction that a mistake has been made." *State v. Gill*, 2012 MT 36, ¶10, 364 Mont. 182, 272 P.3d 60.

While factual findings are generally reviewed for clear error, appellate courts will not ignore objective and neutral video evidence even when it contradicts an officer's testimony. *Metz*, ¶30 *citing Wiggins v. Florida Dep't of Highway Safety & Motor Vehicles*, 209 So. 3d

1165, 1172 (Fla. 2017); *see also Scott v. Harris*, 550 U.S. 372, 380–81

(2007) (Advising that when a party's version of events is contradicted by video evidence appellate courts should "view[] the facts in the light depicted by the videotape.")

The existence of probable cause is reviewed de novo. Ornelas v.

United States, 517 U.S. 690, 699 (1996). Similarly, whether historical facts constitute "exigent circumstances" is also a legal conclusion reviewed de novo. State v. Saxton, 2003 MT 105, ¶19, 315 Mont. 315, 68 P.3d 721. The denial of a motion to dismiss and the constitutionality of a criminal statute receive de novo review as well. State v. Dugan, 2013 MT 38, ¶¶13-14, 369 Mont. 39, 303 P.3d 755.

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

At 20:14:55 Friscia unequivocally told the officers—who were standing in the stairwell (curtilage) of his apartment—to "please leave." The officers remained in Friscia's stairwell despite his explicit request to "please leave." The officers' presence became unlawful at 20:14:55 as the officers lacked probable cause that Friscia was physically assaulting Ms. Parker and that she was in imminent physical danger at that time. Ergo, the district court erred in concluding the officers' presence was justified under the exigent circumstances doctrine.

The district court also erred in denying Friscia's motion to dismiss because § 45-7-102(1)(a)(i), MCA is unconstitutionally overbroad in violation of the First Amendment. The statute is overbroad because of the extraordinarily expansive definitions of "harm" and "property" under § 45-2-101(27) & (61), MCA, resulting in the criminalization of pure speech far beyond the narrow boundaries of unprotected "true threats." Section 45-7-102(1)(a)(i) is also unconstitutional under the holding in *Counterman v. Colorado*, 600 U.S. 66 (2023) because the statute lacks an element requiring the State to prove the defendant (e.g. Friscia) *subjectively* understand his speech as threatening.

### **ARGUMENT**

I. The district court should have granted Friscia's motion to suppress because the officers' presence in the curtilage of his home became unlawful at 20:14:55.

The Fourth Amendment protects persons against unreasonable searches and seizures and is enforced against the States through the Fourteenth Amendment's Due Process Clause. *United States v. Jones*, 565 U.S. 400, 404 (2012); & *Mapp v. Ohio*, 367 U.S. 643, 655 (1961). Article II, Sections 10 & 11 of the Montana constitution also prohibit unreasonable searches and seizures and together provide greater protection than the Fourth Amendment. Mont. Const. art. II, §§ 10 & 11; & *State v. Nixon*, 2013 MT 81, ¶27, 369 Mont. 359, 298 P.3d 408.9

Warrantless searches and seizures are per se unreasonable unless conducted in strict accordance with certain narrow exceptions to the warrant requirement. *State v. Zeimer*, 2022 MT 96, ¶26, 408 Mont. 433, 510 P.3d 100. The State bears the burden of proving warrantless searches were conducted in accordance with a recognized exception.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Friscia contends the officers violated his rights under both the United States and Montana constitutions. In the interest of brevity, however, Friscia will refer to the officers' unlawful conduct as "Fourth Amendment violation(s)" rather than violation(s) of both the Fourth Amendment and Article II, Sections 10 & 11 of the Montana Constitution.

State v. Loberg, 2024 MT 188, ¶8, 418 Mont. 38, 554 P.3d 698. Evidence emanating from unlawful searches is suppressed. State v. McElroy, 2024 MT 133, ¶15, 417 Mont. 68, 551 P.3d 282; see also Wong Sun v. U.S., 371 U.S. 471, 484-85 (1963).

# A. Friscia's stairwell is constitutionally protected curtilage.

"[P]hysical entry of the home is the chief evil against which [the Fourth Amendment] is directed." Payton v. New York, 445 U. S. 573, 585 (1980) (internal quotation marks omitted). Indeed the "very core of the Fourth Amendment stands the right of a man to retreat into his own home and there be free from unreasonable governmental intrusion"; Id., 589-590 (internal citations and quotations omitted); see also Cassady v. Yellowstone County Mont. Sheriff Dep't, 2006 MT 217, \$\frac{1}{27}, 333 \text{ Mont. } 371, 143 \text{ P.3d } 148 ("[W]e deem the potential privacy violation greater where police enter a residence without a warrant because law enforcement's entry into the home is not inevitable as it is in situations where police hold a warrant.")

A home's curtilage receives equal Fourth Amendment protection; curtilage is defined as "the area immediately surrounding a dwelling... [e.g. the] front porch, the area outside the front window, and [the]

garage..." State v. Smith, 2021 MT 324, ¶15, 407 Mont. 18, 501 P.3d 398 citing Florida v. Jardines, 569 U.S. 1, 6-7 (2013).

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