IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

No. DA 24-0023

STATE OF MONTANA,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

v.

PHILLIP MICHAEL FRISCIA,

Defendant and Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

On Appeal from the Montana Eighth Judicial District Court,
Cascade County, The Honorable Elizabeth A. Best, Presiding

APPEARANCES:

AUSTIN KNUDSEN
Montana Attorney General
ROY BROWN
Assistant Attorney General
215 North Sanders
P.O. Box 201401
Helena, MT 59620-1401
Phone: 406-444-2026
roy.brown2@mt.gov

PETE WOOD
Attorney at Law
1604 North 30th Street
Boise, ID 83703

ATTORNEY FOR DEFENDANT
AND APPELLANT

JOSHUA A. RACKI
Cascade County Attorney
AMANDA L. LOFINK
Deputy County Attorney

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

The *Spottedbear* appellant raised a facial overbroad challenge to the same statute, similarly arguing that the Legislature defined “harm” too “expansively[.]”

and that “if a person can conceive of something as disadvantageous, then it is ‘harm’ under the statute.” *State v. Spottedbear*, DA 15-0127, Appellant’s Br. at 13 (filed 12/31/15). As argued here, Spottedbear argued that the term “unlawful” should have been used as a qualifier term before the term “harm.” (*Id.* at 14.) Like Friscia’s hypotheticals on appeal, Spottedbear hypothesized that threats to “mount political opposition” and “dismiss a government attorney’s case” and “file a complaint against a supervisor” could fall within the ambits of the statute. (*Id.* at 14-15.)

This Court identified the issue as: “Whether the improper influence statute is unconstitutionally overbroad.” *Spottedbear*, ¶ 11. This Court acknowledged the facial overbread claim as elucidated in the appellant’s brief and even described in detail Spottedbear’s overbreadth facial challenge including his challenge to the term “harm.” *Id.* ¶ 14. This Court held that “§ 45-7-102(1)(a)(i), MCA, serves a plainly legitimate purpose—to deter people from threatening harm to a public servant in order to influence that person’s actions as a public servant.” *Id.* ¶ 17. This Court explained that “a statute is unconstitutionally overbroad only if its overbreadth is not only ‘real but substantial as well, judged in relation to the statute’s plainly legitimate sweep.’” *Id.* ¶ 15 (citing *State v. Lilburn*, 265 Mont. 258, 264-65, 875 P.2d 1036, 1040 (1994)) (in turn quoting *Broadrick v. Oklahoma*, 413 U.S. 601, 615 (1973)). This Court reasoned that when compared to the

“statute’s plainly legitimate sweep,” Spottedbear would have “a high hurdle to clear in showing how the statute adversely affects the rights of others in a real and substantial way.” *Id.* ¶ 18 (*citing Lilburn*, 265 Mont. at 264-65, 875 P.2d at 1040) (internal quotations omitted). This Court observed that although Spottedbear pointed to “hypothetical remote situations in which the statute could be applied unconstitutionally, he would have to have demonstrated a realistic danger or a significant possibility that the law will be unconstitutionally applied.” *Id.* ¶ 18 (*citing Lilburn*, 265 Mont. at 265, 875 P.2d at 1043) (internal quotations omitted).

Here, while Friscia presents a claim identical to the claim raised in *Spottedbear*, he does not identify any reason why this Court’s resolution of the facial constitutional claim in *Spottedbear* was incorrect. The scope of the opinion addressed and resolved the challenge raised. While Friscia argues *Spottedbear* is different because it considered a facial overbroad challenge within an IAC claim, that same argument did not stop the Supreme Court of Idaho from substantially relying on *Spottedbear* in resolving a facial constitutional challenge to its own threats statute. *State v. Sanchez*, 448 P.3d 991, 999 (Idaho 2019). This Court should accordingly decline to revisit *Spottedbear*.

But even if this Court further considered Friscia’s repetitive arguments to that in *Spottedbear*, the Idaho Supreme Court’s *Sanchez* decision rejected a similar

claim.⁹ A person similarly commits threats under Idaho’s statute if the person “threatens harm to any public servant with purpose to influence his decision, opinion, recommendation, vote or other exercise of discretion in a judicial administrative proceeding . . .” and “harm” is similarly defined as “loss, disadvantage or injury, including loss, disadvantage or injury to any other person or entity in whose welfare he is interested.” *Sanchez*, 448 P.3d at 996-97 (citing Idaho Code Ann. §§ 18-1353(1)(b), -1351(4)). As here and as in *Spottedbear*, *Sanchez* argued that because the statute only prohibited “harm” and not “unlawful harm,” the statute swept broadly to encompass any “disadvantage[.]” *Id.* at 997. The Idaho Supreme Court rejected the argument, explaining that “the harm threatened only becomes criminal under section 18-1353(1)(b) if the harm has the ‘purpose to influence’ the public servant’s behavior.” *Id.* at 999. The Court further explained that a “threat that falls within constitutionally protected speech or conduct, such as one that ‘merely embarrasses or inconveniences’ a public servant would be outside the ambit of section 18-1353(1)(b) and dealt with on a case by case basis.” *Id.* at 998-99 (citing *Broadrick*, 413 U.S. at 615-16).

Like in *Spottedbear*, *Frischia* fails to show overbreadth that is not only real but substantial, judged in relation to the statute’s plainly legitimate sweep.

⁹ In addition, other appellate courts have rejected similar facial constitutional challenges. *See People v. Janousek*, 871 P.2d 1189, 1196 (Colo. 1994); *State v. Stephenson*, 950 P.2d 38, 40 (Wash. 1998).

Spottedbear, ¶ 15. Like Idaho’s statute, a threat under Montana’s statute only becomes criminal if done with the “purpose to influence” a public servant’s behavior or decision. Mont. Code Ann. § 45-7-102(1)(a)(i). Finally, to the extent the hypotheticals raised by Friscia were to arise, they could be effectively dealt with on a case-by-case basis. *Broadrick*, 413 U.S. at 615-16. Friscia’s renewed facial constitutional challenge fails.

III. Friscia’s *Counterman* challenge is waived and would fail on plain error review.

A. The challenge is waived several times over.

“[D]efendants waive fundamental state and federal constitutional rights when they are induced to plead guilty by reason of a plea agreement.” *State v. Collins*, 2023 MT 78, ¶ 14, 412 Mont. 77, 528 P.3d 1106 (citing *Santobello v. New York*, 404 U.S. 257, 264 (1971) (Douglas, J., concurring); *State v. Rardon*, 2002 MT 345, ¶ 16, 313 Mont. 321, 61 P.3d 132). “Montana’s long standing jurisprudence holds that ‘where a defendant voluntarily and knowingly pleads guilty to an offense, the plea constitutes a waiver of all non-jurisdictional defects and defenses, including claims of constitutional rights violations which occurred prior to the plea.’” *State v. Watts*, 2016 MT 331, ¶ 9, 386 Mont. 8, 385 P.3d 960 (collecting cases). Thereafter, “[a] defendant may only attack the voluntary and intelligent character of the guilty

plea and may not raise independent claims relating to prior deprivations of constitutional rights.” *Id.* ¶ 9.

In *Watts*, the defendant entered into a plea agreement that contained “no language reserving the right to appeal after his guilty plea” and, in fact, the agreement specified that Watts had waived his right to all appeals, reserving only the right to challenge his counsel’s effectiveness on appeal. *Watts*, ¶ 10. On appeal, Watts asked this Court “to declare a former statute unconstitutional, apply that determination retroactively to his case, and then reduce his conviction to a misdemeanor.” *Id.* ¶ 13. This Court declined, reasoning that Watts pleaded guilty, thus waived the right to “appeal the constitutionality” of the PFMA statute. *Id.* ¶ 14. This Court concluded that because Watts pleaded guilty without reservation, he could “only challenge the voluntariness and intelligent character of his guilty plea.” *Id.*

Counterman was decided on June 27, 2023. Friscia entered into a plea agreement with the State and pleaded guilty in late September 2023. (Docs. 45-47.) While Friscia reserved “the right to appeal the denial of his motion to suppress and dismiss[,]” (Doc. 45 at 5), Friscia never raised any *Counterman* claim in any pretrial motion or at any point in the district court proceedings—despite his opportunity to do so prior to pleading guilty. Instead, Friscia opted to plead guilty to the threats charge in exchange for the dismissal of the tampering count, to further

“waiv[e] any factual dispute” on whether he committed the offense, and to give up his “right to appeal [his] conviction.” (Doc. 45 at 3-5; Doc. 46 at 8-9.)

Like in *Watts*, while Friscia preserved the right to appeal discrete issues, he otherwise waived the right to appeal his conviction and failed to exercise his opportunity to raise and preserve a constitutional challenge here based on *Counterman*. See Mont. Code Ann. § 46-12-204(3) (statute allowing the defendant to reserve the right to appeal any “adverse determination of any specified pretrial motion” upon the approval of the court and the consent of the prosecutor after a guilty plea). This Court has explained that “the language of [Mont. Code Ann. § 46-12-204(3)] . . . clearly indicates that a claim must be specifically *reserved* in order to be appealable, not that a claim is automatically appealable unless it is expressly *waived*.” *State v. Pavey*, 2010 MT 104, ¶ 12, 356 Mont. 248, 231 P.3d 1104. Friscia failed to preserve a *Counterman* challenge upon his guilty plea, thus the claim is waived.

Friscia nonetheless argues (in a footnote) that he should be entitled to “retroactive” application of *Counterman*, apparently somehow based on the date of the district court’s denial of his other pretrial issues. (Appellant’s Br. at 44 n.19.) But given that *Counterman* was published long before Friscia’s guilty plea, this is not a circumstance where an intervening decision was published while a case was pending on direct review. In any event, while the United States Supreme Court

announced “a new rule for the conduct of criminal prosecutions is to be applied retroactively” in cases “pending on direct review or not yet final[,]” in *Griffith v. Kentucky*, 479 U.S. 314, 328 (1987), it has never abandoned the requirement that an issue be preserved in order for it to be cognizable on appeal, even for cases otherwise subject to the retroactivity rule. *United States v. Booker*, 543 U.S. 220, 268 (2005) ([W]e expect . . . courts to apply ordinary prudential doctrines, . . . for example, whether the issue was raised below.”); *Shea v. Louisiana*, 470 U.S. 51, 58 n.4 (1985) (noting the rule of retroactivity is “subject . . . to established principles of waiver, harmless error, and the like”). And federal circuit courts have accordingly acknowledged that plea agreement waivers remain valid despite the rule of retroactivity.¹⁰

This Court has never abandoned waiver principles either, particularly in guilty pleas, and even in cases that retroactive review would otherwise be applicable. *See State v. Andrews*, 2010 MT 154, ¶ 12, 357 Mont. 52, 236 P.3d 574; *State v. Ferris*, 2010 MT 252, ¶¶ 16-19, 358 Mont. 244, 244 P.3d 732.¹¹ Indeed,

¹⁰ Where “developments in the law later expand a right that a defendant has waived in a plea agreement, the change in law does not suddenly make the plea involuntary or unknowing or otherwise undo its binding nature.” *United States v. Bradley*, 400 F.3d 459, 463 (6th Cir. 2005); *accord United States v. Cortez-Arias*, 425 F.3d 547, 548 (9th Cir. 2005) (“[A] favorable change in the law does not entitle a defendant to renege on a knowing and voluntary guilty plea.”).

¹¹ *See also* dissents in both cases arguing for application of *Griffith*.

a “voluntary plea of guilty intelligently made in the light of the then applicable law does not become vulnerable because later judicial decisions indicate that the plea rested on a faulty premise.” *Andrews*, ¶ 12 (citing *Brady v. United States*, 397 U.S. 742, 757 (1970)). And a defendant who waives his state court remedies and enters a plea to the charges against him “does so under the law then existing.” *Id.* (citing *McMann v. Richardson*, 397 U.S. 759, 774 (1970)). This Court has “follow[ed] the rule” that “a post-plea change in the law does not invalidate the plea.” *Andrews*, ¶ 14 (collecting numerous cases). Thus, even if there had otherwise been any merit to Friscia’s claim he was entitled to retroactively, his claim would still be waived.

Friscia’s claim is waived for yet another reason: *Counterman* involved an as-applied constitutional challenge to the Colorado stalking statute. *People v. Counterman*, 497 P.3d 1039, 1042 (Ct. App. Colo. 2021), *vacated*, 600 U.S. 66, 83 (2023). Friscia argues on appeal—despite his valid and voluntary guilty plea—that he subjectively did not believe that he made any threats, and that his conviction is thus infirm based on *Counterman*. (Appellant’s Br. at 47-48.) This Court will not review “an as-applied constitutional challenge raised for the first time on appeal.” *State v. Alford*, 2025 MT 171, ¶ 12, 423 Mont. 269, ___ P.3d ___. Accordingly, Friscia has waived any as-applied challenge based on *Counterman* to challenge his conviction by failing to raise the issue below.

And to the extent Friscia attempts to shoehorn his *Counterman* claim into a facial constitutional challenge, such a claim would fail. Friscia argues that the threats statute “is unconstitutional” but he does not ask this Court to invalidate the statute. (Appellant’s Br. at 48.) Nonetheless, the *Counterman* Court never invalidated Colorado’s stalking statute, nor did it address a facial constitutional claim. *See, e.g., State v. Labbe*, 314 A.3d 162, 178 (Maine 2023) (“*Counterman* did not hold that [] the Colorado stalking statute was facially unconstitutional; it was an as-applied challenge based on the specific facts in, and posture of, that case. To the extent that [Appellant] relies on *Counterman* (or on any other reason) to argue that the Maine stalking statute is facially unconstitutional, the argument does not stand.”).

B. The challenge would fail on the merits.

Friscia does not dispute that his *Counterman* challenge is unpreserved. This Court has consistently held that it will not consider issues raised for the first time on appeal. *See, e.g., State v. Taylor*, 2010 MT 94, ¶ 12, 356 Mont. 167, 231 P.3d 79; *see also* Mont. Code Ann. § 46-20-104(2) (“Failure to make a timely objection during trial constitutes a waiver of the objection” for purposes of appeal). This Court may review an unpreserved claim alleging a violation of a fundamental constitutional right under the common law plain error doctrine where the defendant invokes the Court’s inherent authority and ‘firmly convince[s]’ this Court that

failure to review the claimed error would result in a manifest miscarriage of justice, leave unsettled the question of the fundamental fairness of the trial or proceedings, or compromise the integrity of the judicial process.” *Taylor*, ¶ 32. This Court relies upon its “inherent power of common law plain error review sparingly, on a case-by-case basis, and we will invoke that doctrine only in the class of cases aforementioned.” *State v. Finley*, 276 Mont. 126, 134-35, 137-38, 915 P.2d 208, 214, 216 (1996). Friscia has not asked the Court to invoke the plain error doctrine. Having failed to request plain error review in his opening brief, it is too late for Friscia to ask for plain error review in a reply brief. *See State v. King*, 2013 MT 139, ¶ 40, 370 Mont. 277, 304 P.3d 1.

Friscia would be unable to show a manifest miscarriage of justice entitling him to plain error reversal of his conviction based on *Counterman* anyway because that decision does not apply here. The *Counterman* defendant was originally charged under a Colorado stalking statute that made it unlawful to “[r]epeatedly . . . make [] any form of communication with another person’ in ‘a manner that would cause a reasonable person to suffer serious emotional distress and does cause that person . . . to suffer serious emotional distress.’” *Counterman*, 600 U.S. at 70 (citing Colo. Rev. Stat. § 18-3-602(1)(c)). Thus, under Colorado’s statute, prosecutors did not need to prove that Counterman had “any kind of subjective intent to threaten” the victim. *Id.* at 71 (internal citations omitted). Under

Colorado’s standard for true threats, the State only had to “show that a reasonable person would have viewed the [conduct] as threatening.” *Id.*

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